1997

Lorin David Graves v. Tricia Kristina Clements : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Appellant David Graves (“Graves”) files this appeal from a decision of the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County modifying the original custody order regarding the parties’ children and granting custody of the children to Appellee Tricia Clements (“Clements”). This Court has jurisdiction over Graves’ appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(h) (Supp. 1996).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE: DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING A MATERIAL CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES HAD OCCURRED AND AFFECTED THE FUNCTIONING OF THE CUSTODIAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN GRAVES AND HIS CHILDREN?

STANDARD OF REVIEW:

A TRIAL COURT’S FACTUAL FINDINGS UNDERLYING A HOLDING OF MATERIAL CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES IN A DIVORCE DECREE AND A DETERMINATION OF THE CHILDREN’S BEST INTERESTS MAY NOT BE DISTURBED UNLESS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS. A COURT’S LEGAL

CONCLUSION AS TO WHETHER A MATERIAL CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES HAS OCCURRED THAT WOULD WARRANT RECONSIDERING THE DIVORCE DECREE IS REVIEWED FOR AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION. A TRIAL JUDGE'S AWARD OF CUSTODY AND SUPPORT IS ALSO REVIEWED FOR ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

AUTHORITY: Cummings v. Cummings, 821 P.2d 472, 476 (Utah App. 1991)
Wells v. Wells, 871 P.2d 1036, 1038 (Utah App. 1994)
Sukin v. Sukin, 842 P.2d 922, 923 (Utah App. 1992)

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

There are no statutes or constitutional provisions that are determinative in this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case:

Graves appeals from the trial court's order amending the parties' decree of divorce. The amended order terminated the then-existing joint custody order and awarded Clements the sole care, control and custody of the parties' four (4) minor children. The trial court

found that the joint custody arrangement was “an extremely good way of doing things,” but that “things have changed drastically” since Clements remarried in March 1995.

Course of the Proceedings:

The parties were divorced April 7, 1992, in the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County. The decree of divorce entered into at the time dictated that the parties be awarded the joint care and custody of the four minor children, and that Graves be the primary caretaker and have the physical custody of the children subject to Clements’ rights of reasonable visitation. In August 1995, Clements filed a petition to modify the divorce decree and sought to gain physical custody of the children. On October 24, 1995, Commissioner Lisa Jones of the above-mentioned court heard Clements’ motion for a change of custody. After interviewing the minor children, receiving proffers of testimony and argument from counsel on Clements’ motion for temporary order and Clements’ motion for independent custody evaluation, and taking the contested issues under advisement, Commissioner Jones ordered in a minute entry under advisement recommendation that “it is in the best interest of the minor children to remain in the physical custody of [Graves].” It was also found that “[Clements] attempted to influence the children.” A custody evaluation was

then ordered.

Disposition at Trial Court:

On October 17-18, 1996, Clements' Amended Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce came before the Third Judicial District Court, the Honorable Judge Thorne presiding. In his order, Judge Thorne held that "things have changed drastically resulting in the requisite material change in circumstance [and] that the above-referenced material change in circumstance occurred in March of 1995 when the Defendant [Clements] married Garry Waye Clements." Judge Thorne terminated the existing custody order and awarded Clements the sole care, control and custody of the children.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

David Graves and Tricia Clements were married in Salt Lake City on August 7, 1982. To their union were born Amy and David, twins - 12 years old, Michael - 9 years old, and Daniel - 7 years old. Graves worked as an insurance agent for New York Life Insurance Company and for ten years in the banking industry. He left his job as an insurance agent in 1990 to return to the University of Utah to earn his college degree. Graves and Clements arranged that Clements would work while Graves completed his studies.

Around March 1991, Clements stated that she wanted a divorce from

Graves and moved out of the family home. (Transcript, p. 331.) As the reason for the separation, Graves alleges that Clements had an extra-marital affair; she denies this claim. (Transcript, p. 518-22.) The parties were divorced on April 7, 1992, and they were awarded joint care and custody of the children, with Graves being designated as the primary caretaker with physical custody, and Clements being granted visitation rights. (Transcript, p. 183.) Clements was ordered to pay child support, but did not meet her obligation and presently owes over \$15,000 in past due child support. (Transcript, p. 448-50.)

Since 1990, Graves has rented a three-bedroom apartment in a middle-class neighborhood at 147 University Village, Salt Lake City. The apartment contains its own kitchen and bathroom, and when the children lived with Graves, each child had his or her own bed. The custody evaluator, Manuel de la Torre, L.C.S.W., toured the home and noted "it was fairly clean and orderly. The furnishings appeared to be in good repair. The apartment has a common outside area with swings, a merry-go-round and other play toys." (Custody Evaluation, p. 3.) For six years the children lived with their father at the same address, attending the same schools, and playing with the same friends. Graves received a total of \$1,742 a month from AFDC, student aid and child support while he was in school.

Clements began living with Garry Waye Clements in June 1992. (Transcript, p. 383.) Since that time, they have resided in a 5-bedroom home in a middle-class neighborhood in West Jordan. (Transcript, p. 424, 437.) They were married in March 1995.

In August 1995, Clements sought sole custody of the children by filing a petition to modify the divorce decree. On October 17-18, 1996, Clements' Amended Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce came before the Third Judicial District Court, the Honorable Judge Thorne presiding. During the trial, Graves provided the court seven (7) separate character references supporting his skills and abilities as a parent. The wide variety of references included: an LDS clergyman relating his observations of Graves with his children, several University classmates and professors commenting on Graves's dedicated efforts at school and his care and concern for his children, and the director of the child care center where the four minor children have attended since June of 1994, commenting that Graves was "cooperative, sensitive to the children's needs, and kind and nurturing with the children." In addition, Graves offered an affidavit from a neighbor, a registered nurse who knew both Graves and Clements for eight years, stating that "Graves has always possessed a calm, caring attitude toward his children."

The trial court found that the joint custody arrangement was "an extremely good way of doing things," but that "things have changed drastically" since Clements remarried in March 1995. (See Transcript, p. 570-71.) The court found that since that time, the joint custody co-parenting relationship had deteriorated. The court specifically held that at the time of Clements' remarriage, Graves began treating his relationship with her as a "'tug-of-war'" to see who would keep the children. (Transcript, p. 571.) The court held that a material change in circumstances occurred in March of 1995 when Clements remarried, and the court

terminated the joint custody order and awarded Clements sole custody of the children.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Utah courts have clearly outlined the two-part procedure for modification of child custody decrees. The first step involves a determination that a “substantial” change of circumstances has occurred since the time of the last decree, and the second step focuses on the best interests of the children. In this case, the trial court incorrectly applied the first step of the test. The trial court relied too heavily on the fact that Clements remarried, and ignored the effect the bitter custody dispute had on the joint custody co-parenting relationship. The court erred in allowing Clements to rely on circumstances she created by initiating the custody battle. The artificially created “change in circumstances” is not sufficient to remove the children from Graves and put them in Clements custody.

The Utah Supreme Court has stated that the requisite change must substantially and materially affect the custodial parent’s parenting ability or the functioning of the custodial relationship. In this case, the evidence did not show a material change in the custodial parenting relationship between Graves and the children. Nothing “substantial” or “material” changed in David Graves’ relationship with his children to warrant Clements being awarded custody. Since the original divorce decree, Graves and the children have lived in the same home and attended the same schools and the same day care center. The only change in

this case is that Clements remarried and initiated a custody battle. The first test of the Utah courts that the change must essentially affect the custodial relationship was never met, and the trial court erred in awarding physical custody of the four children to Clements.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING A MATERIAL CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES OCCURRED AND AFFECTED THE FUNCTIONING OF THE CUSTODIAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN GRAVES AND HIS CHILDREN. THE TRIAL COURT THEREFORE ERRED IN MODIFYING THE CUSTODY ORDER.

The trial court erred by focusing on the fact that Clements remarried and by ignoring the detrimental effect the child custody litigation had on the joint custody co-parenting relationship. In doing so, the trial court misapplied longstanding Utah case law on the subject, and therefore the custody modification should be overturned by this court.

The Utah Supreme Court has outlined the two-part procedure which trial courts must follow in modifying custody arrangements. The trial court must first “receive evidence only as to the nature and materiality of any change in those circumstances upon which the earlier award of custody was based.” Hogge v. Hogge, 649 P.2d 51, 54 (1982). The Utah Supreme Court revisited this first step in Becker v. Becker, where it added “it is not sufficient merely to allege a change which, although otherwise substantial, does not essentially affect the custodial relationship . . . [and] the asserted change must, therefore, have some material relationship to and substantial effect on parenting ability or the functioning of the

presently existing custodial relationship.” 694 P.2d 608, 610 (1984) (holding that the trial court was justified in finding no substantial change in circumstances since the divorce, despite fact that the former wife had matured, settled down and remarried).

The reasoning behind the Supreme Court’s rulings on this subject is clear. The two-part procedure was designed “to protect the custodial parent from harassment by repeated litigation and protect the child[ren] from ‘ping-pong’ custody awards.” Hogge, 649 P.2d at 53-54. “The rationale is that custody placements, once made, should be as stable as possible unless the factual basis for them has completely changed.” Becker, 694 P.2d at 610. The Court in Hogge noted that the Oregon courts emphasized “the importance of a stable and secure home life for children who are shifted from one parent to another and required to make adjustments attendant upon such changes.” Id. at 54, quoting Remillard and Remillard, 30 Or. App. 1111, 569 P.2d 651, 653 (1977). Moreover, “[t]he ‘change of circumstances’ threshold is high to discourage frequent petitions for modification of custody decrees.” Kramer v. Kramer, 738 P.2d 624, 626 (Utah 1987).

In the present case, the facts show that the custodial relationship between Graves and his children did not substantially or materially change since the original divorce. All the vital, relevant aspects of a child’s life remained the same for the Graves’ children during this time. They slept in the same beds, lived in the same home, attended the same day care center and schools, and played with the same

friends. More importantly, the parent-child relationship with their father did not substantially or materially change during this time. And, although Clements has remarried, “it is not sufficient merely to allege a change which, although otherwise substantial, does not essentially affect the custodial relationship.” Becker, 694 P.2d at 610. A noncustodial parent’s change of circumstances is not relevant. Kramer, 738 P.2d at 627.

It could be argued that in a joint custody situation, the circumstances of both parents are relevant because both have a custodial relationship with the children. However, such a position is inconsistent with Utah law. In Crouse v. Crouse, 817 P.2d 836 (Utah 1991), the divorce decree provided for joint legal custody of the parties’ two children, and granted primary physical custody to Mrs. Crouse. Seeking primary physical custody of the children, Mr. Crouse filed a petition to modify the divorce decree. In support of his petition, Mr. Crouse offered evidence that he had moved from an apartment into a house. The trial court denied the petition, finding that Mr. Crouse failed to prove a material change in circumstances sufficient to alter the custody order. The Utah Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court and noted that a noncustodial parent’s change in housing arrangements is generally not sufficient to justify a modification of custody. Crouse, 817 P.2d at 839-40. The Crouse decision illustrates that the Hogge change in circumstances test applies in a joint custody situation, and the parent with primary physical custody of the children is considered the custodial parent. Accordingly, in the case at bar Clements had the burden to prove a material change

in the custodial parenting relationship between Graves and the children. The evidence shows this burden was not met.

The court found that the joint custody parenting arrangement deteriorated and broke down after Clements remarried in March 1995. However, the record contains no evidence indicating that the breakdown in the co-parenting arrangement was tied to or caused by Clements' remarriage. Clements has lived with her new husband since 1992, and there is no evidence showing that her 1995 marriage affected the joint custody relationship. Rather, the evidence clearly shows that the breakdown in the co-parenting arrangement was caused and facilitated by the commencement of child custody litigation.

Graves testified that "the entire court case has created an artificial problem here." (Transcript, p. 229.) He characterized the litigation as a "bitter court battle," (Transcript, p. 230), and felt it appropriate that "under the circumstances" he should not directly communicate with Clements regarding the children's welfare. (Transcript, p. 191-92.) Graves stated that he used to have a very good co-parenting relationship with Clements, and "that's the way it will be again when this is all over." (Transcript, p. 212.) Graves also testified that "once the case is over and settled, things will settle down and we can begin again." (Transcript, p. 201.) Finally, Graves admitted that in the last year, because of the court case, he did not involve Clements in decisions concerning attention deficit disorder (ADD) counseling and medication for Michael or David. (Transcript, p. 270.) Prior to the litigation, Graves involved Clements in every such decision. (Transcript, p.

270.)

The causal relationship between the beginning of the custody battle and the breakdown of the co-parenting arrangement is illustrated by the timing of the problems noted by the trial court. In the 1994-95 school year, Graves and Clements shared custody of the children; each had them for 2 weeks per month. (Transcript, p. 341.) They discontinued this system because it caused problems with the children's schoolwork. (Transcript, p. 342, 401.) Then, in August 1995, Clements initiated the custody battle, and the co-parenting difficulties followed.

Beginning in October 1995, Graves refused to accept Clements' telephone calls at home because they led to chaos with the children. (Transcript, p. 199-200, 343-44.) The court noted that Graves made a vulgar remark to Clements; this occurred in June 1996. (Transcript, p. 197.) The school registration forms which failed to include Clements were prepared in 1996. (Transcript, p. 202.) The evidence showed a visitation problem occurred on June 14, 1996, and also on August 11, 1996. (Transcript, p. 225-26.) According to Clements, her visitation has not been very liberal since November 1995. (Transcript, p. 395.) Graves testified that he has had almost no contact with Clements in the last 9 to 10 months, and that they handle matters through their attorneys. (Transcript, p. 211-12.)

When considering the effect the bitter custody dispute has taken on Graves and the joint parenting relationship, it is important to remember that Graves suffers from chronic fatigue syndrome (Transcript, p. 213, 294), has been diagnosed with

depression (Transcript, p. 297-99), and is under significant stress. (Transcript, p. 299.) He admitted that all the fighting upset him and that he sometimes says inappropriate things "in the heat of battle." (Transcript, p. 229, 234.) In fact, at one point Graves even advocated splitting the children up for the purpose of ending the litigation. (Transcript, p. 287.) It is obvious that the custody battle Clements initiated has taken its toll on Graves and on the co-parenting relationship.

The evidence clearly shows that the breakdown in the joint custody parenting arrangement was directly caused by the child custody litigation. The trial court erred in allowing Clements to rely on and benefit from the problematic circumstances she created by initiating the custody battle.

In Fullmer v. Fullmer, 761 P.2d 942 (Utah App. 1988), the court considered a similar situation. In that case, Mrs. Fullmer, the custodial parent, was preparing to move to New York City and had quit her job, moved out of her apartment, and sold most of her belongings. The night before her scheduled departure, Mr. Fullmer served her with his petition to modify the child custody order, together with a restraining order prohibiting her from leaving the state. Mrs. Fullmer was forced to hire an attorney and hurriedly arrange temporary living accommodations and employment. The trial court modified the custody order and awarded custody to Mr. Fullmer, based on his solid employment and more stable environment. In reversing the trial court, the appellate court noted that although Mrs. Fullmer's housing accommodations and employment were unstable after the filing of the petition, "any changes in her circumstances were, in large part, a

consequence of respondent's [Mr. Fullmer's] conduct." Id. at 948. The court concluded that "Respondent [Mr. Fullmer] cannot use the circumstances he created to reopen the child custody issue. To hold otherwise would provide incentive to noncustodial parents to create havoc in the custodial parent's circumstances in order to justify reconsideration of the custody award." Id. at 948.

The same rationale applies to the present case. The breakdown in the joint custody co-parenting relationship was a direct consequence of Clements' conduct in initiating the "tug-of-war" custody battle. By commencing this emotionally difficult litigation, Clements essentially facilitated the deterioration of the co-parenting relationship. She cannot now rely on those circumstances to obtain custody.

CONCLUSION

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