1997

Graves v. Clements : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue on appeal, as stated and argued by Graves, reflects a fundamental misunderstanding of the law governing this appeal and ignorance of the facts of this case. Second, inasmuch as the original custody order in this case arose from a stipulation between the parties, the lower court was not required to find a material change in circumstance in the custodial relationship, but rather could have relied on changes in circumstance affecting the Children's best interests. Significantly, the lower court's findings of fact in that regard have not been challenged by Graves. Third, whether there was a material change in circumstance and whether the custodial relationship had been affected are not distinct issues. Rather, to the extent material change of circumstance is relevant, the appropriate inquiry is whether the trial court

abused its discretion in finding a material change of circumstance in the parties' joint custodial / co-parenting relationship. Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-10.4(1) (1990); Moody v. Moody, 715 P.2d 507, 509 (Utah 1985). That inquiry was absolutely proper and Graves has not even attempted to challenge the trial court's findings of fact on that question. Fourth, Section 30-3-10.4(2) of the Utah Code, as applied to the facts of the present case, makes consideration of material change in circumstance irrelevant and mandates affirmation of the lower court's ruling. Fifth, Graves' statement and argument of the issue on appeal is merely a convoluted debate with the factual findings of the trial court -- Graves merely attempts to reargue select facts of the case. Significantly, however, Graves does not even attempt to discharge his duty to marshal the evidence supporting the trial court's ruling. Graves' failure to marshal the evidence is fatal to his appeal. Finally, each of the foregoing arguments independently justifies affirmation of the trial court's ruling and demonstrates that Graves' appeal is without reasonable legal or factual basis. Accordingly, this court should award Clements her attorney's fees and double costs incurred herein.

ARGUMENT

I. GRAVES' FAILURE TO MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE MANDATES AFFIRMATION OF THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING.

It is axiomatic that a party challenging a Utah trial court's findings of fact must marshal all of the evidence supporting those findings, Duncan v. Howard, 918 P.2d 888, 891 (Utah App. 1996) (citing Rudman v. Rudman, 812 P.2d 73, 79 (Utah App. 1991)), and then demonstrate that the trial court's findings based upon those facts when viewed in the light most favorable to the court below, State v. Larsen, 828 P.2d 487, 490 (Utah App. 1992), are clearly erroneous. Id.;

Riche v. Riche, 784 P.2d 465, 467 (Utah App. 1989) (citing In re Estate of Bartell, 776 P.2d 885, 886 (Utah 1989); State v. Walker, 743 P.2d 191, 192-3 (Utah 1987); Utah R. Civ. P. 52(a)).

Accordingly, Graves was required in his principal brief to set forth all of the evidence supporting the trial court's findings and then analyze and argue the sufficiency thereof. Graves unequivocally fails to do so. Rather, Graves has elected merely to reargue a very few select facts -- behavior clearly proscribed by this court. In Larsen, this court criticized the appellant for selecting only evidence favorable to his position and not adducing evidence supporting the trial court's findings. Larsen, 828 P.2d at 491 (citing Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exch., 817 P.2d 789, 800 (Utah 1991)). Graves' approach herein "does not begin to meet the marshaling burden [he] must carry." Id.

Graves' failure to marshal the evidence is fatal to his appeal. "If an appellant fails to marshal the evidence, 'the appellate court assumes that the record supports the findings of the trial court and proceeds to a review of the accuracy of the lower court's conclusions of law and the application of that law in the case.'" Id. at 490 (citing Saunders v. Sharp, 806 P.2d 198, 199 (Utah 1991)) (emphasis supplied). The effect in this, a custody case, is clearly demonstrated by this court's application of the marshaling rule in Riche. In that case this court refused "to further consider Husband's attack on the court's findings as to custody." Riche 784 P.2d at 468.

Enforcement of the marshaling rule in the present case is dispositive for at least two reasons. First, the trial court very specifically found that Graves' relationship with the Children had adversely and materially changed. Consequently, even if this court determines that the relationship between Graves and the Children is the focus of the change of circumstance inquiry, this court must affirm the lower court's ruling. Specifically, Judge Thorne found that a change in Graves' perception of his role as physical custodian and joint custodian had caused the Children

to suffer. (R. at 964.) Judge Thorne further found that Graves had become “very inflexible, controlling, and not acting with the kids’ best interest at heart, but his own,” (R. at 965) (emphasis supplied), Graves began doing everything he could to obstruct the Children’s relationship with Clements, (R. at 965), Graves prevented the kids from speaking with Clements on the phone, (R. at 965), and Graves has “developed some unrealistic expectations of kids’ abilities, particularly when they conflict with [his] own needs,” (R. at 966). Those findings are clearly sufficient to constitute a material change in Graves’ relationship with the Children. Accordingly, and inasmuch as Graves does not challenge the trial court’s finding that vesting the Children’s sole care, control, and custody in Clements is in the Children’s best interest, Graves cannot prevail in his appeal.

Second, if, as will be demonstrated below, Section 30-3-10.4 of the Utah Code Ann. (1990) and governing case law permit the trial court to examine Graves’ joint custodial relationship with Clements for a material change in circumstance, any findings in that regard will be indisputable and will, again, sustain the lower court’s ruling. In that vein, Judge Thorne found: that as of March of 1995 when Clements married Mr. Clements, that “[Graves’] desire to carry on as co-parents seemed to have evaporated,” (R. at 964), that Graves began to view his relationship with Clements as a “tug of war to see who was going to keep [the Children],” (R. at 964), that the parties’ joint custodial / co-parenting relationship had broken down, (R. at 964), that Graves’ began doing everything he could to obstruct Clements’ relationship with the Children, (R. 965), that the parties were not “co-parenting anymore,” (R. at 965), that Graves had become “autocratic,” (R. at 965), and that the joint custodial relationship had ceased to be equal, (R. at 965). As with the foregoing analysis, given these undisputed findings and inasmuch as

Graves does not challenge the trial court's finding that vesting the Children's sole care, control, and custody in Clements is in the Children's best interest, Graves cannot prevail in his appeal.

II. SECTION 30-3-10.4(2) IS DISPOSITIVE OF THIS APPEAL.

The issue on appeal, as stated by Graves, is implicitly predicated on the assumption that the lower court was required to find a material change in circumstance. Graves does not attempt to challenge the lower court's findings regarding which custodial placement was in the Children's best interest. Consequently, if the lower court did not need to find a material change of circumstance, even a successful challenge to such a finding would be futile. Such is the case in this appeal.

Section 30-3-10.4 provides, "The order of joint legal custody shall be terminated by order of the court if both parents file a motion for termination." Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-10.4(2) (1990) (emphasis supplied). That is precisely what happened in the present case. Clements petitioned to terminate the joint legal custody order and for an award of sole care, control and custody of the Children, (R. at 770, 853), as did Graves in his Answer and Verified Counter Petition and his Verified Answer and Counter Petition to Defendant's Amended Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce when he sought "an Order that [he] be awarded the sole custody, care, and control of the minor children of the parties. . . , " (R. at 118, 128, 567-68). In view of the plain language of Section 30-3-10.4(2), Judge Thorne gave Graves much more consideration than was necessary. Actually, the lower court was not required to make any findings as to material change of circumstance because Section 30-3-10.4 mandates termination of the joint legal custody order and entry of a sole legal custody order under the facts of this case. That is precisely what the lower court did after finding that placing the Children in the sole care, control, and custody of

Clements was in the Children's best interest -- a finding which Graves has not challenged. Consequently, regardless of this court's disposition of the issue raised by Graves for appeal, the lower court's ruling must be affirmed.

III. SECTION 30-3-10.4(1) IS DISPOSITIVE OF THIS APPEAL.

The issue on appeal, as stated by Graves, is fallaciously predicated on the assumption that the material change of circumstance, if required, must have been in Graves' relationship with the Children. That error is fatal because Graves has not challenged in any way the lower court's findings relating to the parties' joint custodial / co-parenting relationship. Accordingly, if Clements can demonstrate that a material change in the parties' joint custodial / co-parenting relationship is sufficient to warrant modification of a joint legal custody order, resolution of the issue raised by Graves is absolutely irrelevant to this court's decision to affirm the lower court's ruling.

Significantly, Graves' discussion of this issue amounts to the proverbial ostrich placing its head in the sand. Graves does not even acknowledge the existence of Section 30-3-10.4(1) which provides:

On the motion of one or both of the joint legal custodians the court may, after a hearing, modify an order that established joint legal custody if:

(a) the circumstances of the child or one or both custodians have materially and substantially changed since the entry of the order to be modified, or the order has become unworkable or inappropriate under existing circumstances; and

(b) a modification of the terms and conditions of the decree would be an improvement for and in the best interest of the child.

Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-10.4(1) (1990) (emphasis supplied). Similarly, the Supreme Court of the State of Utah has held that "the nonfunctioning of a joint custody arrangement is clearly a substantial change in circumstances which justifies reopening the custody issue." Moody, 715

P.2d at 509. As previously demonstrated in Section “I” of this Argument, the lower court made very precise findings that the parties’ joint custodial / co-parenting relationship had ceased functioning and had become unworkable or inappropriate under the circumstances. (R. at 965-65.) Again, Graves does not even attempt to challenge the sufficiency of the facts underlying those findings. Moreover, the facts of this case clearly establish that the lower court’s findings were not clearly erroneous and that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in reopening the custody issue. Graves’ failure to challenge the trial court’s findings regarding the functioning of the joint custodial / co-parenting relationship and which custodial placement was in the Children’s best interests make it impossible for Graves to credibly challenge that court’s ruling.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT’S FINDINGS OF THE CHILDREN’S BEST INTERESTS ARE DISPOSITIVE OF THIS APPEAL.

As previously indicated, the original custody order in this case was non-adjudicated and, instead, arose out of a stipulation between the parties. (R. at 558.) Consequently, regardless of any of the foregoing analysis and argument, the trial court properly considered the effects of the then-existing custody order on the Children. In Maughan v. Maughan, 770 P.2d 156 (Utah App. 1989), this court wrote:

If, on the other hand, the initial custody award is premised on . . . a default decree, or similar exceptional criteria, the trial court may properly focus its “inquiry into the effects on the child of the established custodial relationship as it has developed over time.” This inquiry is necessarily less rigid because the trial court has not previously had an opportunity to make a thorough examination of the child’s best interests, or, if so, has been compelled to make a choice between “the lesser of two evils.” Under those circumstances, the court may accept a greater range of evidence under Hogge’s first prong regarding the initial custody arrangement, the events that have since transpired, and the resulting effects on the child.

Id at 160 (citing Kramer v. Kramer, 738 P.2d 624, 627 n. 5 (Utah 1987)) (emphasis supplied); Elmer v. Elmer, 776 P.2d 599, 603-05 (Utah 1989); Hardy v. Hardy, 776 P.2d 917, 922 (Utah App. 1989). In the present case, Graves only indirectly challenges the trial court's findings regarding the relationship between Graves and the Children. As previously noted, Graves makes absolutely no effort to challenge the lower court's findings regarding the collapse of the parties' relationship, the adverse effects of Graves' conduct on the Children, the adverse effects of the collapse of the parties' relationship on the Children, or which custodial placement was in the Children's best interest. Consequently, it is impossible for Graves to challenge the trial court's ruling, which this court must affirm.

**V. GRAVES' ARGUMENT
CANNOT WARRANT REVERSAL
OF THE TRIAL COURT.**

Graves' argument, that the lower court "[ignored] the detrimental effect the child custody litigation had on the joint custody co-parenting relationship," (Brief of the Appellant p. 12), is specious, factually unsupported and unsupportable, and contrary to fact. This argument is logically flawed for at least two reasons. First, Graves cannot cite any support in the Record demonstrating that Judge Thorne "ignored" the evidence cited by Graves. It is, after all, impossible to prove a negative. Consequently, Graves must rely only the logical nonsequitur that the lower court's rejection of Graves' evidence and argument proves that court ignored the same. That clearly is not the case. As demonstrated above, both Clements and Graves testified to facts supporting the trial court's conclusion that the breakdown of the parties' joint custodial / co-parenting relationship correlated in time to Clements' marriage to Garry W. Clements nearly five months prior to the filing of Clements' Petition to Modify. Consequently, the trial court could

easily consider Graves' argument and reject the same in favor of Clements' evidence and argument.

Further, Graves' statement that "the record contains no evidence indicating that the breakdown in the co-parenting arrangement was tied to or caused by Clement's remarriage" simply demonstrates Graves' ignorance of the facts of this case and is illustrative of the reason appellants are required to marshal the evidence. Among others, the following facts demonstrate the collapse of the parties' joint custodial / co-parenting relationship prior to Clements' initiating the custody litigation: Graves' unilateral termination of the parties' informal joint physical custody arrangement, Graves' efforts to restrict and inflexibility regarding Clements' visitation with the Children, Graves' decision to no longer attend parent / teacher conferences with Clements, the virtual non-existence of a working relationship between the parties by August of 1995, the fact that the parties were no longer communicating by August of 1995 -- even regarding the Children's welfare, Graves' refusal to involve Clements in decisions regarding the Children's welfare -- including counseling and medication, and Graves' declaration to Clements in May of 1995 that what went on in his home with the Children was not Clements' concern.

Graves' second error is his assertion of Fullmer v. Fullmer, 761 P.2d 942 (Utah App. 1988) in support of the proposition that material changes of circumstance precipitated by the child custody litigation could not be considered by the trial court. In this context, it must be emphasized that there was considerable evidence presented at trial which Graves has elected not to marshal, which is set forth herein, which supports the trial court's findings, and which strongly contradicts Graves' interpretation of the facts. Nevertheless, a careful reading of Fullmer and an understanding of the facts of that case demonstrates that the trial court would have been fully

justified in relying on Graves' conduct in reaction to the child custody litigation to support its findings of material change in circumstance and best interests of the Children.

In Fullmer, this court relied heavily on the custody evaluator's conclusions that the appellant was an excellent parent, the child responded well to both parents, and the child was well-adjusted. Id at 947. Moreover, this court emphasized that there "was no allegation that the existing custodial arrangement caused a deterioration in [the child's] mental or physical health." Id. Finally, in Fullmer this court reasoned that the appellant's unemployment, temporary living accommodations, and financial difficulties were all attributable to the appellee's surprise initiation of litigation "on the eve appellant was scheduled to move to New York" for a new job. Id at 948. Fullmer is easily and significantly distinguished from the case at bar on each of those significant facts. In the case at bar, the facts plainly demonstrate that the custody evaluator had significant concerns about Graves, to the point of deeming his treatment of the Children emotionally abusive. Moreover, the custody evaluator found that the children were not well-adjusted and happy living with Graves, Graves often became angry with the Children, and the parties' daughter felt more comfortable and safer at Clements' home. Further, Graves' often left the Children home alone and unsupervised and failed to provide for the Children's healthcare needs. Those facts, among others, clearly demonstrate a threat to the Children's emotional and physical health which was not present in Fullmer.

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